

#### Virginia Commonwealth University **VCU Scholars Compass**

**MERC Publications** 

MERC (Metropolitan Educational Research Consortium)

2011

### Encourage Self Regulated Learning in the Classroom

Sharon Zumbrunn Virginia Commonwealth University, skzumbrunn@vcu.edu

Joseph Tadlock Virginia Commonwealth University, tadlockja@vcu.edu

Elizabeth Danielle Roberts Virginia Commonwealth Univeristy

Follow this and additional works at: http://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/merc\_pubs



Part of the Education Commons

#### Downloaded from

http://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/merc pubs/18

This Research Report is brought to you for free and open access by the MERC (Metropolitan Educational Research Consortium) at VCU Scholars Compass. It has been accepted for inclusion in MERC Publications by an authorized administrator of VCU Scholars Compass. For more information, please contact libcompass@vcu.edu.

# Encouraging Self-Regulated Learning in the Classroom:A Review of the Literature

Sharon Zumbrunn Assistant Professor Foundations of Education

> Joseph Tadlock Graduate Assistant

Elizabeth Danielle Roberts Graduate Assistant

Virginia Commonwealth University
October 2011

Copyright©2011. Metropolitan Educational Research Consortium (MERC), Virginia Commonwealth University

The views expressed in MERC publications are those of individual authors and not necessarily those of the consortium or its members.

#### **Table of Contents**

Abstract	3
Literature Review	4
Defining Self-Regulation	4
Self-Regulated Learning and Motivation	8
Self-Regulated Learning Strategies for Students	9
Goal-Setting	10
Planning	10
Self-Motivation	11
Attention Control	11
Flexible Use of Strategies	12
Self-Monitoring	12
Help-Seeking	13
Self-Evaluation	13
Encouraging Student Self-Regulated Learning	14
Direct Instruction and Modeling	14
Guided and Independent Practice	15
Social Support and Feedback	16
Reflective Practice	17
Challenges to Promoting Self-Regulated Learning in the Classroom	17
Conclusions	19
References	20

#### **Abstract**

Self-regulated learning (SLR) is recognized as an important predictor of student academic motivation and achievement. This process requires students to independently plan, monitor, and assess their learning. However, few students naturally do this well. This paper provides a review of the literature including: the definition of SRL; an explanation of the relationship between SRL and motivation in the classroom; specific SRL strategies for student use; approaches for encouraging student SRL; and a discussion of some of the challenges educators might encounter while teaching students to be self-regulated, life-long learners.

Self-regulation is essential to the learning process (Jarvela & Jarvenoja, 2011; Zimmerman, 2008). It can help students create better learning habits and strengthen their study skills (Wolters, 2011), apply learning strategies to enhance academic outcomes (Harris, Friedlander, Sadler, Frizzelle, & Graham, 2005), monitor their performance (Harris et al., 2005), and evaluate their academic progress (De Bruin, Thiede & Camp, 2011). Teachers thus should be familiar with the factors that influence a learner's ability to self-regulate and the strategies they can use to identify and promote self-regulated learning (SRL) in their classrooms. In addition to self-regulation, motivation can have a pivotal impact on students' academic outcomes (Zimmerman, 2008). Without motivation, SRL is much more difficult to achieve. This paper will discuss SRL and how it relates to motivation. Additionally, this review will present methods and strategies that teachers can use to promote SRL to help their students become life-long learners in and out of the classroom.

#### **Defining Self-Regulation**

Self-regulated learning is a process that assists students in managing their thoughts, behaviors, and emotions in order to successfully navigate their learning experiences. This process occurs when a student's purposeful actions and processes are directed towards the acquisition of information or skills. Generally, models of SRL are separated into phases. One popular cyclical model (see Figure 1) discusses three distinct phases: Forethought and planning, performance monitoring, and reflections on performance (Pintrich & Zusho, 2002; Zimmerman, 2000). During the *forethought and planning* phase, students analyze the learning task and set specific goals toward

completing that task. When students learn unfamiliar topics, however, they may not know the best ways to approach the task or what goals might be the most appropriate. Teachers and/or more experienced peers often can instruct students on effective approaches in cases like these.

Next, in the *performance monitoring* phase, students employ strategies to make progress on the learning task and monitor the effectiveness of those strategies as well as their motivation for continuing progress toward the goals of the task. Unfortunately, when strategies are new, students sometimes revert to using more familiar—and perhaps ineffective—strategies. For example, students may lapse into using the familiar strategy of flash cards to study new vocabulary words because it might seem easier than the new, effective strategy presented by the teacher. Whereas taking the time necessary to practice and learn the new strategy could lead to meaningful learning, students' use of their fall-back strategy will likely leave them with a considerably less effective means to their learning. Close teacher monitoring and specific feedback can help students learn to use new strategies with fluency, especially if students face frustration.

In the final *reflection on performance* phase, students evaluate their performance on the learning task with respect to the effectiveness of the strategies that they chose. During this stage, students also must manage their emotions about the outcomes of the learning experience. These self-reflections then influence students future planning and goals, initiating the cycle to begin again.

Figure 1. Phases of Self-Regulated Learning

### Performance Monitoring Phase

- Employ strategies to make progress on the learning task.
- Monitor the effectiveness of the strategies employed.
- Monitor motivation for completing the learning task.

# Forethought and Planning Phase

- Analyze the learning task.
- Set goals toward completing the task.

## Reflection on Performance Phase

- Evaluate performance on the learning task.
- Manage emotional responses related to the outcomes of the learning experience.

Self-regulated learners' proactive qualities and self-motivating abilities help to distinguish them from their peers. Research shows that self-regulated students are more engaged in their learning. These learners commonly seat themselves toward the

front of the classroom (Labuhn, Zimmerman, & Hasselhorn, 2010), voluntarily offer answers to questions (Elstad & Turmo, 2010), and seek out additional resources when needed to master content (Clarebout, Horz, & Schnotz, 2010). Most importantly, selfregulated learners also manipulate their learning environments to meet their needs (Kolovelonis, Goudas, & Dermitzaki, 2011). For example, researchers have found that self-regulated learners are more likely to seek out advice (Clarebout et al., 2010) and information (De Bruin et al., 2011) and pursue positive learning climates (Labuhn et al., 2010), than their peers who display less self-regulation in the classroom. Due to their resourcefulness and engagement, it is not then surprising that findings from recent studies suggest that self-regulated learners also perform better on academic tests and measures of student performance and achievement (Schunk & Zimmerman, 2007; Zimmerman, 2008). In a study of high school students, Labuhn et al. (2010) found that learners who were taught SRL skills through monitoring and imitation were more likely to elicit higher levels of academic self-efficacy (i.e., confidence) and perform higher on measures of academic achievement compared to students who did not receive SRL instruction. It seems as though SRL can make the difference between academic success and failure for many students (Graham & Harris, 2000; Kistner, Rakoczy, & Otto, 2010).

#### **Self-Regulated Learning and Motivation**

Self-regulated learning is controlled by an interconnected framework of factors that determine its development and sustainability (Bandura, 1993; Boekaerts, 1999; Pintrich, 2000; Zimmerman, 2008) and motivation is a critical factor in this framework (Kurman, 2001; Ommundsen, Haugen & Lund, 2005; Wang & Holcombe, 2010). For

example, during the forethought and planning phase, when students consider why an activity should be completed and how much effort to put toward that activity, their interests and values are factored into the decision (Simons, Dewitte, & Lens, 2000; Wolters & Pintrich, 1998; Wolters, Yu, & Pintrich, 1996). If students do not see value in learning tasks, then they are less likely to spend much time setting goals and planning strategies to accomplish those tasks. Additionally, students' efficacy beliefs—their confidence in their ability to successfully complete tasks—also play a role, especially during the forethought and planning and performance monitoring phases (Zimmerman, 2000). Research has found self-efficacy and the use of self-regulation strategies to have reflexive positive impacts on one another. Higher self-efficacy beliefs increase the use of self-regulation strategies (Pajares, 2008) and the use of self-regulation strategies can lead to increases in self-efficacy beliefs and academic achievement (Bouffard-Bouchard, Parent, & Larivee, 1991; Schunk, 1984; Schunk & Hanson, 1985; Zimmerman & Martinez-Pons, 1990).

During the performance monitoring phase, students continuously assess the meaningfulness of the learning task. Intrinsic motivation and volition guide the level of effort and persistence used in completing the assignment and use of other self-regulation strategies. Finally, students' causal attributions—the factors students attribute to their success or failure for a specific task—play a key role in the reflection on performance phase, as students make decisions of whether or not they will engage in an activity and utilize self-regulation strategies for similar activities in the future. In general, self-regulation and motivation work hand in hand to explain student learning

and success in the classroom. When students are motivated to learn, they are more likely to invest the necessary time and energy needed to learn and apply appropriate SRL skills, and when students are able to successfully employ self-regulation strategies, they are often more motivated to complete learning tasks (Zimmerman, 2000).

#### **Self-Regulated Learning Strategies for Students**

To promote SRL in classrooms, teachers must teach students the self-regulated processes that facilitate learning. These processes often include: goal setting (Winne & Hadwin, 1998; Wolters, 1998), planning (Zimmerman, 2004; Zimmerman & Risemberg, 1997), self-motivation (Corno, 1993; Wolters, 2003; Zimmerman, 2004), attention control (Harnishferger, 1995; Kuhl, 1985; Winne, 1995), flexible use of learning strategies (van de Broek, Lorch, Linderholm, & Gustafson, 2001; Winne, 1995), self-monitoring (Butler & Winne, 1995; Carver & Scheier, 1990), appropriate help-seeking (Butler, 1998; Ryan, Pintrich, & Midgley, 2001), and self-evaluation (Schraw & Moshman, 1995).

#### **Goal Setting**

Goals can be thought of as the standards that regulate an individual's actions (Schunk, 2001). In the classroom, goals may be as simple as earning a good grade on an exam, or as detailed as gaining a broad understanding of a topic. Short-term attainable goals often are used to reach long-term aspirations. For example, if a student sets a long-term goal to do well on an exam, then he or she also may set attainable goals such as studying for a set amount of time and using specific study strategies to help ensure success on the exam. Research also suggests that encouraging students to

set short-term goals for their learning can be an effective way to help students track their progress (Zimmerman, 2004).

#### **Planning**

Similar to goal setting, planning can help students self-regulate their learning prior to engaging in learning tasks. In fact, research indicates that planning and goal setting are complementary processes, as planning can help learners establish well thought out goals and strategies to be successful (Schunk, 2001). Planning occurs in three stages: setting a goal for a learning task, establishing strategies for achieving the goal, and determining how much time and resources will be needed to achieve the goal (Schunk, 2001). Teaching students to approach academic tasks with a plan is a viable method for promoting self-regulation and learning (Pressley & Woloshyn, 1995; Scheid, 1993).

#### **Self-Motivation**

Self-motivation occurs when a learner independently uses one or more strategies to keep themselves on-track toward a learning goal. It is important to the process of self-regulation because it requires learners to assume control over their learning (Corno, 1993). Furthermore, self-motivation occurs in the absence of external rewards or incentives and can therefore be a strong indicator that a learner is becoming more autonomous (Zimmerman, 2004). By establishing their own learning goals and finding motivation from within to make progress toward those goals, students are more likely to persist through difficult learning tasks and often find the learning process more gratifying (Wolters, 2003).

#### **Attention Control**

In order to self-regulate, learners must be able to control their attention (Winne, 1995). Attention control is a cognitive process that requires significant self-monitoring (Harnishferger, 1995). Often this process entails clearing the mind of distracting thoughts, as well as seeking suitable environments that are conducive to learning (e.g., quiet areas without substantial noise) (Winne, 1995). Research indicates that students' academic outcomes increase with focused time spent on-task (Kuhl, 1985). Thus, teaching students to attend to learning tasks should be a priority. Teachers can help their students control their attention by removing stimuli that may cause distractions, and providing students with frequent breaks to help them build up their attention spans.

#### Flexible Use of Strategies

Successful learners are able to implement multiple learning strategies across tasks and adjust those strategies as needed to facilitate their progress towards their desired goals (Paris & Paris, 2001). However, it is important to note that most students, especially those in the primary grades, typically do not have a large repertoire of learning strategies at their disposal (van de Broek et al., 2001). It takes time for students to learn and become comfortable with different learning strategies. By modeling how to use new strategies and providing appropriate amounts of scaffolding as students practice, teachers can help learners become independent strategy users.

#### **Self-Monitoring**

To become strategic learners, students must assume ownership for their learning and achievement outcomes (Kistner et al., 2010). Self-regulated learners take on this responsibility by monitoring their progress towards learning goals. The process of self-monitoring encompasses all of the aforementioned strategies. In order for a learner to self-monitor their progress, they must set their own learning goals, plan ahead, independently motivate themselves to meet their goals, focus their attention on the task at hand, and use learning strategies to facilitate their understanding of material (Zimmerman, 2004). Teachers can encourage self-monitoring by having students keep a record of the number of times they worked on particular learning tasks, the strategies they used, and the amount of time they spent working. This practice allows students to visualize their progress and make changes as needed.

#### **Help-Seeking**

Contrary to popular belief, self-regulated learners do not try to accomplish every task on their own, but rather frequently seek help from others when necessary (Butler, 1998). What sets self-regulated learners apart from their peers is that these students not only seek advice from others, but they do so with the goal of making themselves more autonomous (Ryan et al., 2001). Teachers can promote positive help seeking behaviors by providing students with on-going progress feedback that they can easily understand and allowing students opportunities to resubmit assignments after making appropriate changes.

#### **Self-Evaluation**

Students are more likely to become self-regulated learners when they are able to evaluate their own learning, independent of teacher-issued summative assessments (Winne & Hadwin, 1998). This practice enables students to evaluate their learning strategies and make adjustments for similar tasks in their future (Schraw & Moshman, 1995). Teachers can promote self-evaluation in the classroom by helping students monitor their learning goals and strategy use, and then make changes to those goals and strategies based upon learning outcomes (Zimmerman, 2004).

In summary, self-regulated learners are able to set short- and long-term goals for their learning, plan ahead to accomplish their goals, self-motivate themselves, and focus their attention on their goals and progress. They also are able to employ multiple learning strategies and adjust those strategies as needed, self-monitor their progress, seek help from others as needed, and self-evaluate their learning goals and progress based upon their learning outcomes. Teachers at the primary and secondary levels can use the aforementioned strategies to promote self-regulation in their classrooms. However, teachers should understand that learners develop at various paces, and strategies that work best for one learner may not always work with the next.

#### **Encouraging Student Self-Regulated Learning**

Creating SRL environments for the complex and diverse range of backgrounds, skill sets, and personalities that many students encompass poses challenges to even the most experienced teachers. Fortunately, a great deal of literature showcases a variety of effective instructional strategies for encouraging self-regulation in the classroom

(Andreassen & Braten, 2011; Boekaerts & Corno, 2005; Cleary & Zimmerman, 2004; De Corte, Mason, Depaepe, & Verschaffel, 2011; Dignath & Buettner, 2008; Graham, Harris & Mason, 2004; Souvignier & Mokhlesgerami, 2006; Stoeger & Ziegler, 2011; Tonks & Taboada, 2011). Some of these strategies include direct instruction and modeling, guided and independent practice, social support and feedback, and reflective practice.

#### **Direct Instruction and Modeling**

Direct instruction involves explicitly explaining different strategies to students, as well as how those strategies are used and what skills are involved in using those strategies (Zimmerman, 2008). The focus of this kind of instruction is modeling and demonstration. When teachers model and explain their own thought processes necessary for completing activities and assignments, students are more apt to understand and begin to use those same processes on their own (Boekaerts & Corno, 2005). Though direct instruction may not be necessary for encouraging SRL in all students, it may be essential for most students—especially younger learners—as many fail to independently use SRL strategies effectively (Zimmerman, 2000). Research has shown that this type of instruction can be the best initial strategy for encouraging students to be more self-regulative (Levy, 1996).

#### **Guided and Independent Practice**

Guided practice is another way teachers can help improve SRL and motivation (Lee et al., 2010). During guided practices, the responsibility of implementing the learning strategy shifts from teacher to student. For example, a student might practice implementing a specific writing strategy while the teacher carefully observes and offers

help when necessary. In a study of reading achievement, Vidal-Abarca, Mana, and Gil (2010) examined whether guided practice of SRL strategies could improve fifth grade students' test scores. Findings revealed that guided practice of SRL strategies increased reading skill test scores, improved motivation to read, and increased task engagement. Student-teacher conferencing is one way teachers can help guide students in setting goals and monitoring their strategy use and progress, as conferences tend to promote student thinking and learning (Montalvo & Torres, 2008).

Independent practice should naturally follow guided practice. During this process, students are given opportunities to practice the strategy on their own, which can ultimately reinforce autonomy (Schunk & Zimmerman, 2007). For example, Stoeger and Ziegler (2008) examined whether teaching fourth grade students SRL strategies would motivate them to read independently outside of the classroom, and whether independent reading practice would improve reading comprehension scores. The data indicated that once students were given SRL strategies to use, they were more likely to practice reading independently. Additionally, results showed independent reading practice to be a valuable predictor of students' reading comprehension scores across an eight week period. Although direct and explicit strategy instruction can be powerful on its own, students are less likely to incorporate the SRL strategy into their academic routines without guided and independent practice (Lee, McInerney, & Liem, 2010). Ideally, strategy instruction incorporates a combination of direct instruction and modeling, as well as guided and independent practice. It is essential for students to

have frequent opportunities to practice self-regulation to maintain skills over time (Montalvo & Torres, 2008).

#### **Social Support and Feedback**

Social support from teachers and peers can serve an important role as students are learning to be more self-regulative. Findings from a study with fifth grade students showed that task engagement and the use of SRL strategies was more prevalent in students that regularly received support from their teacher and peers (Patrick, Ryan, & Kaplan, 2007). Often, social support comes in the form of feedback. Research indicates that effective feedback includes information about what students did well (Labuhn et al., 2010), what they need to improve, and steps they can take to improve their work (Black & William, 1998; Hattie & Timperley, 2007; Sadler, 1998). This type of feedback is often referred to as progress feedback (Duijnhouwer, Prins, & Stokking, 2010). Not only can progress feedback assist students in improving their academic achievement (Brookhart, 2011), it also can promote student motivation (Wigfield, Klauda, & Cambria, 2010) and self-regulation. Labuhn et al., (2010) examined the effects of teacher feedback on the use of SRL strategies to improve mathematics achievement of fifth grade students. Results indicated that students who received feedback from their teachers were more likely to accurately use SRL strategies to improve their mathematics scores.

#### **Reflective Practice**

Reflective practice, or adapting and revising pedagogical styles to accommodate students (Gibson, Hauf, & Long, 2011), might be the most important and effective tool a teacher can use. This practice enables teachers to investigate the possible reasons explaining the effectiveness of a given instructional strategy used in the classroom. Through thoughtful reflection, experimentation, and evaluation, teachers can better create meaningful learning experiences for their students (Gibson et al., 2011).

#### Challenges to Promoting Self-Regulated Learning in the Classroom

Though most teachers would agree that teaching students to be more selfregulative in the classroom would be ideal, the practice does not come without challenge. Developing lessons that prepare students to engage in SRL practices and provide real support and opportunities for implementation is no small feat (Paris & Winograd, 2003). Many will find that the major obstacle in helping students become self-regulative is the time required to teach students how to use specific strategies (Boekaerts & Cascallar, 2006). Although teachers in K-12 settings often are pressed to accomplish many tasks in limited time spans, it is important to remember that SRL strategies can help students learn new information and effectively prepare for those very tasks (Paris & Winograd, 1990). Fundamental changes at the school level may need to occur for teachers to be able to allocate the time and resources necessary for preparing students to be self-regulated learners. Most importantly, classroom curriculum and accompanying assessment systems must be organized in ways that support and value autonomous inquiry and strategic problem-solving (Patrick et al, 2007).

Understanding that factors outside of the teacher's control can have a major impact on the development of a student's ability to self-regulate also can prove to be a challenge. For example, how students choose to approach and monitor their learning is usually consistent with their preferred or desired social identity (Cleary & Chen, 2009), which can have little to do with a teacher's instruction. Whereas students who believe getting good grades is inappropriate for their social group may disregard effective SRL

strategies such as doing homework efficiently (Ommundsen et al., 2005), students with identities consistent with intellectual curiosity may be more apt to engage in SRL learning (Wang & Holcombe, 2010). Ultimately, students' social identities can influence their academic behaviors and educational goals (Montalvo & Torres, 2008).

#### **Conclusions**

Motivation, engagement, and self-regulation are the primary determinants of students' learning outcomes, and whether or not they will persist through challenging tasks (Harris, Graham, Mason, & Sadler, 2002). By teaching students to be more self-regulative, teachers may experience greater success in promoting academic achievement, motivation, and life-long learning. Spending a marginal amount of time each day demonstrating how specific self-regulation strategies can improve students' learning can go a long way to helping them prepare for challenging learning tasks and assessments (Graham & Harris, 2005). Ultimately, if our goal is to create successful life-long learners, then we must first ensure that we teach them the strategies necessary for that journey.

#### References

- Andreassen, R. & Braten, I. (2011). Implementation and effects of explicit reading comprehension instruction in fifth-grade classrooms. *Learning and Instruction*, *21*, 520-537.
- Bandura, A. (1993). Perceived self-efficacy in cognitive development and functioning. *Educational Psychologist, 28*, 117-148.
- Black, P., & William, D. (1998). Assessment and classroom learning. *Assessment in Education: Principles, Policy & Practice, 5*, 7-75.
- Boekaerts, M. (1999). Self-regulated learning. *International Journal of Educational Research*, *31*(6), 445-551.
- Boekaerts, M. & Corno, L. (2005). Self-regulation in the classroom: A perspective on assessment and intervention. *Applied Psychology: An International Review, 54*(2), 199-231.
- Boekaerts, M., & Cascallar, E. (2006). How far have we moved toward the integration of theory and practice in self-regulation? *Educational Psychology Review*, *18* (3), 199-210.
- Bouffard-Bouchard, T., Parent, S., & Larivee, S. (1991). Influence of self-efficacy on self-regulation and performance among junior and senior high-school age students. *International Journal of Behavior Development*, *14*, 153-164.
- Butler, R. (1998). Determinants of help seeking: Relations between perceived reasons for classroom help-avoidance and help-seeking behaviors in an experimental context. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *90*, 630-643.

- Butler, D. L., & Winne, P. H. (1995). Feedback and self-regulated learning: A theoretical synthesis. *Review of Educational Research*, *65*, 245-281.
- Carver, C. S., & Scheier, M. F. (1990). Origins and functions of positive and negative affect: A control-process view. *Psychological Review*, *97*, 19-35.
- Clarebout, G., Horz, H., & Schnotz, W. (2010). The relations between self-regulation and the embedding of support in learning environments. *Educational Technology Research and Development, 58*(5), 573-587.
- Cleary, T. J., & Zimmerman, B. J. (2004). Self-regulation empowerment program: A school-based program to enhance self-regulated and self-motivated cycles of student learning. *Psychology in the Schools, 41*, 537-550.
- Cleary, T.J., & Chen, P.P. (2009). Self-regulation, motivation, and math achievement in middle school: variations across grade level and math context. *Journal of School Psychology*, *47*(5), 291-314.
- Corno, L. (1993). The Best-laid plans: Modern conceptions of volition and educational research. *Educational Researcher*, *22*, 14-22.
- de Bruin, A.B., Thiede, K.W., & Camp, G. (2001). Generating keywords improves metacomprehension and self-regulation in elementary and middle school children. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, *109* (3), 294-310.
- De Corte, E., Mason, L., Depaepe, F., & Verschaffel, L. (2011). Self-regulation of mathematical knowledge and skills. In B. J. Zimmerman, & D. H. Schunk (Eds.), *Handbook of self-regulation of learning and performance* (pp. 155-172). New York: Routledge.

- Dignath, C. & Buttner, G. (2008). Components of fostering self-regulated learning among students. A meta-analysis on intervention studies at primary and secondary school level. *Metacognition and Learning*, *3*, 231-264.
- Duijnhouwer, H., Prins, F. J., & Stockking, K. M. (2010). Progress feedback effects on students' writing mastery goal, self-efficacy beliefs, and performance. *Educational Research and Evaluation*, *16*, 53-74.
- Elstad, E., & Turmo, A. (2010). Students' self-regulation and teacher's influence in science: Interplay between ethnicity and gender. *Research in Science & Technological Education*, *28* (3), 249-260.
- Graham, S. & Harris, K. R. (2000). The role of self-regulation and transcription skills in writing and writing development. *Educational Psychologist*, *35*(1), 3-12.
- Graham, S., & Harris, K.R. (2005). Improving the writing performance of young struggling writers: Theoretical and programmatic research from the center on accelerating student learning. *Journal of Special Education*, *39* (1), 19-33.
- Graham, S., Harris, K. R., & Mason, L. (2004). Improving the writing performance, knowledge, and self-efficacy of struggling young writers: The effects of self-regulated strategy development. *Contemporary Educational Psychology, 30*, 207-241.
- Gibson, M., Hauf, P., & Long, B. S. (2011). Reflective practice in service learning: Possibilities and limitations. *Education & Training*, *53* (4), 284-296.

- Harnishferger, K. K. (1995). The development of cognitive inhibition: Theories, definitions, research. In F. N. Dempster & C. J. Brainerd (Eds.), *Interference and Inhibition in Cognition* (pp. 176-206). San Diego: Academic Press.
- Harris, K. R., Friedlander, B.D., Saddler, B., Frizzelle, R. & Graham, S. (2005). Self-monitoring of attention versus self-monitoring of academic performance: Effects among students with ADHD in the general education classroom. *Journal of Special Education*, *39* (3), 145-156.
- Harris, K. R., Graham, S., Mason, L. H., & Sadler, B. (2002). Developing self-regulated writers. *Theory into Practice, 41*, 110-115.
- Hattie, J., & Timperley, H. (2007). The power of feedback. *Review of Educational Research*, 77, 81-112.
- Jarvela, S., & Jarvenoja, H. (2011). Socially constructed self-regulated learning and motivation regulation in collaborative learning groups. *Teachers College Record*, *113*(2), 350-374.
- Kistner, S., Rakoczy, K., & Otto, B. (2010). Promotion of self-regulated learning in classrooms: Investigating frequency, quality, and consequences for student performance. *Metacognition and Learning*, *5* (2), 157-171.
- Kolovelonis, A., Goudas, M., & Dermitzaki, I. (2011). The effect of different goals and self-recording on self-regulation of learning a motor skill in a physical education setting. *Learning and Instruction*, *21* (3), 355-364.

- Kuhl, J. (1985) Volitional mediators of cognition—behavior consistency: self-regulatory processes and action versus state orientation. In J. Kuhl and J. Beckman (eds)

  \*\*Action Control: From Cognition to Behavior\* (pp. 101-128). New York: Springer.
- Kurman, J. (2001). Self-regulation strategies in achievement settings: Culture and gender differences. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *32* (4), 491-503.
- Labuhn, A.S., Zimmerman, B.J., & Hasselhorn, M. (2010). Enhancing students' self-regulation and mathematics performance: The influence of feedback and self-evaluative standards *Metacognition and Learning*, *5* (2), 173-194.
- Lee, J.Q., McInerney, D.M., & Liem, G.A. (2010). The relationship between future goals and achievement goal orientations: An intrinsic-extrinsic motivation perspective. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, *35* (4), 264-279.
- Levy, N.R. (1996). Teaching analytical writing: Help for general education middle school teachers. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, *32*(2), 95-103.
- Montalvo, F.T., & Torres, M.C. (2008). Self-regulated learning: Current and future

  Directions. *Electronic Journal of Research in Educational Psychology*, *2*(1), 1-34.
- Ommundsen, Y., Haugen, R., & Lund, T. (2005). Academic self-concept, implicit theories of ability, and self-regulation strategies. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, *49*(5), 461-474.
- Patrick, H., Ryan, A.M., & Kaplan, A. (2007). Early adolescents' perceptions of the classroom social environment, motivational beliefs, and engagement. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *99*(1), 83-98.

- Pajares, F. (2008). Motivational role of self-efficacy beliefs in self-regulated learning. In D. H. Schunk & B. J. Zimmerman (Eds.), *Motivation and self-regulated learning: Theory, research and applications* (pp. 111-139). New York: Erlbaum.
- Paris, S. G., & Winograd, P. (1990). How metacognition can promote academic learning and instruction. In B. J. Jones & L. Idol (Eds.), *Dimensions of thinking and cognitive instruction (*pp. 15–51). Hillsdale, NJ:Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc
- Paris, S. G., & Paris, A. H. (2001). Classroom applications of research on self-regulated learning. *Educational* P*sychologist*, *36*, 89-91.
- Pintrich, P. (2000). Multiple goals, multiple pathways: The role of goal orientation in learning and achievement. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *92*, 544-555.
- Pintrich, P. R., & Zusho, A. (2002). The development of academic self-regulation:

  The role of cognitive and motivational factors. In A. Wigfield & J. Eccles (Eds.),

  Development of achievement motivation (pp.249–284). San Diego, CA: Academic Press.
- Pressley, M., & Woloshyn, v. (1995). *Cognitive strategy instruction that really improves children's academic performance* (2nd ed.). Cambridge, MA: Brookline.
- Ryan, A. M., Pintrich, P. R., & Midgley, C. (2001). Avoding seeking help in the classroom: Who and why? *Educational Psychology Review*, *13*, 93-114.
- Sadler, D. R. (1998). Formative assessment: revisiting the territory. *Assessment in Education*, *5*, 77-84.
- Schunk, D. H. (1984). Self-efficacy perspective on achievement behavior. *Educational Psychologist*, *19*, 48-56.

- Schunk, D. H. (2001). Social cognitive theory and self-regulated learning. In

  Zimmerman, B. J., & Schunk, D. H. (Eds.) *Self-regulated Learning and Academic Achievement: Theoretical Perspectives*. Mahwah, NJ. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Schunk, D.H., & Swartz, C.W. (1993). Goals and progress feedback: Effects on self-efficacy and writing achievement. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Educational Research Association, Atlanta, GA. Retrieved from ERIC database (ED359216).
- Schunk, D. & Zimmerman, B. (2007). Influencing children's self-efficacy and self-regulation of reading and writing through modeling. *Reading & Writing Quarterly*, *23*(1), 7-25.
- Schraw, G., & Moshman, D. (1995). Metacognitive theories. *Educational Psychology*\*\*Review, 7, 351-371.
- Schneid, K. (1993). *Helping students become strategic learners*. Brookline, MA: Brookline Books.
- Simons, J., Dewitte, S., & Lens, W. (2004). The role of different types of instrumentality in motivation, study strategies, and performance: Know why you learn, so you'll know what to learn! *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, *74* (3), 343-360.
- Souvignier, E. & Mokhlesgerami, J. (2006). Using self-regulation as a framework for implementing strategy instruction to foster reading comprehension. *Learning* and *Instruction*, *16*, 57-71.

- Stoeger, H., & Ziegler, A. (2008). Evaluation of a classroom based training to improve self-regulation in time management tasks during homework activities with fourth graders. *Metacognition and Learning*, *3*(3), 207-230.
- Stoeger, H., & Ziegler, A. (2011). Self-regulatory training through elementary-school students' homework completion. In B. J. Zimmerman, & D. H. Schunk (Eds.), Handbook of self-regulation of learning and performance (pp. 87-101). New York: Routledge.
- Tonks, S. M., & Taboada, A. (2011). Developing self-regulated readers through instruction for reading engagement. In B. J. Zimmerman, & D. H. Schunk (Eds.), *Handbook of self-regulation of learning and performance* (pp. 173-186). New York: Routledge.
- van den Broek, P., Lorch, R., Linderholm, T., & Gustafson, M. (2001). The effects of readers' goals on inference generation and memory for texts. *Memory & Cognition*, *29*, 1081-1087.
- Vidal-Arbarca, E., Mana, A., & Gil, L. (2010). Individual differences for self-regulating task-oriented reading activities. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *102*(4), 817-826.
- Wang, M.T., & Holcombe, R. (2010). Adolescents' perceptions of school environment, engagement, and academic achievement in middle school. *American Educational Research Journal*, *47*(3), 633-662.

- Wigfield, A., Klauda, S. L., & Cambria, J. (2011). Influences on the development of academic self-regulatory processes. In B. J. Zimmerman, & D. H. Schunk (Eds.), *Handbook of self-regulation of learning and performance* (pp.33-48). New York: Routledge.
- Winne, P. H. (1995). Inherent details in self-regulated learning. *Educational Psychologist*, *30*, 173-188.
- Winne, P. H. (2009). Self-regulated learning viewed from models of information processing. In B. J. Zimmerman & D. H. Schunk (Eds.), *Self-regulated learning and academic achievement*, (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.) (pp. 153-189). New York: Routledge.
- Winne, P. H., & Hadwin, A. F. (1998) Studying as self-regulated learning. In D. J.

  Hacker & J. Dunlosky (Eds.), *Metacognition in educational theory and practice*,

  The educational psychology series. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Wolters, C. (1998). Self-regulated learning and college students' regulation of motivation. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *90*, 224–235.
- Wolters, C. A. (2003). Regulation of motivation: Evaluating an underemphasized aspect of self-regulated learning. *Educational Psychologist*, *38*, 189-205.
- Wolters, C.A. (2011). Regulation of motivation: Contextual and social aspects. *Teachers College Record*, *113*(2), 265-283.
- Wolters, C. A., & Pintrich, P. R. (1998). Contextual differences in student motivation and self-regulated learning in mathematics, English, and social studies classrooms. *Instructional Science*, 26, 27-47.

- Wolters, C. A., Yu, S. L., & Pintrich, P. R. (1996). The relation between goal orientation and students' motivational beliefs and self-regulated learning. *Learning and Individual Differences*, *8*, 211–238.
- Zimmerman, B. J. (2000). Attaining self-regulation: a social cognitive perspective. In M. Boekaerts, P. R. Pintrich, & M. Zeidner (Eds.), *Handbook of self-regulation*. San Diego: CA: Academic Press.
- Zimmerman, B. J., & Martinez-Pons, M. (1990). Student differences in self-regulated learning: Relating grade, sex, and giftedness to self-efficacy and strategy use. *Journal of Educational Psychology, 82*, 51-59.
- Zimmerman, B., & Risemberg, R. (1997). Becoming a self-regulated writer: A social cognitive perspective. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, *22*, 73-101.
- Zimmerman, B. (2000). Self-efficacy: an essential motive to learn. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, *25*(1), 82-91.
- Zimmerman, B. J. (2004). Sociocultural influence and students' development of academic self-regulation: A social-cognitive perspective. In D. M. McInerney & S. Van Etten (Eds.), Big theories revisted (pp.139-164). Greenwhich, CT: Information Age.
- Zimmerman, B. (2008). Investigating self-regulation and motivation: Historical background, methodological developments, and future prospects. *American Educational Research Journal*, *45(1)*, pp. 166-183.